NO. 42538-6-II

12/12/13 AM 3:27  
FILED BY 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHARLES TEWEE,

Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE  
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
FOR CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable John Nichols, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Peter B. Tiller, WSBA No. 20835  
Of Attorneys for Appellant

The Tiller Law Firm  
Corner of Rock and Pine  
P. O. Box 58  
Centralia, WA 98531  
(360) 736-9301

**A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The admission of an out-of-court statement identifying the appellant as the alleged perpetrator violated the “hue and cry” doctrine.

2. The trial court erred in admitting an out-of-court statement identifying the appellant as the alleged perpetrator under the medical diagnosis and treatment exception to the hearsay rule.

3. There was insufficient evidence to support the special verdict that the appellant used a position of trust to facilitate the crime.

4. The trial court erred in entering the following finding of fact in support of an exceptional sentence:

The defendant used his position of trust or confidence to facilitate the commission of the current offense.

Clerk’s Papers 518.

5. The trial court erred in including the appellant’s Oregon conviction for unauthorized use of a motor vehicle in calculating his offender score.

**B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Under the hue and cry exception to the hearsay rule, testimony is limited to the fact of disclosure by the victim; the identity of the perpetrator as well as details of the assault are not admissible. Where testimony by a

deputy sheriff admitted under the hue and cry exception exceeded that doctrine when the deputy disclosed that the complaining witness identified her uncle—Charles Tewee—as the perpetrator, is the appellant entitled to reversal of his conviction for first degree child molestation and remand for a new trial? (Assignment of Error 1)

2. Out-of-court statements may be admissible if made for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment. Generally, a statement identifying the perpetrator of injuries is not admissible absent evidence the identity was necessary for medical treatment or diagnosis. Where a counselor testified the declarant identified her perpetrator but the State did not provide any evidence showing identity was relevant to treatment or diagnosis, did the trial court err in admitting the out-of-court statement regarding identity? (Assignment of Error 2)

3. Is the record insufficient to support a finding appellant used a position of trust to facilitate child molestation where the totality of evidence is that the appellee is the uncle of the complaining witness and was a houseguest in the house in which the complaining witness lived? (Assignments of Error 3 and 4)

4. Did the trial court err when it found that the appellant's

Oregon conviction for unauthorized use of a vehicle was comparable to a Washington felony offense and included the offense in the offender score calculation where the Oregon crime is broader than its Washington counterpart? (Assignment of Error 5)

**C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**1. Procedural facts:**

The Clark County Prosecuting Attorney charged Charles Tewee by amended information on May 4, 2011 with rape of a child in the first degree (Count 1), and child molestation in the first degree (Count 2). Clerk's Papers (CP) 257. The information alleged that the offense occurred between January 1 and February 28, 2010, and that A.B. is the complaining witness. CP 257. The State also alleged that Mr. Tewee abused a position of trust in committing the offense. RCW 9.94A.535(3)(n). CP 257. The State filed notice of intent to seek an exceptional sentence on September 24, 2010. CP 3.

Trial commenced on May 16, 2011, the Honorable John Nichols presiding. At the beginning of trial, defense counsel moved *in limine* to exclude evidence of A.B.'s statement regarding disclosure of the molestation to Clark County Deputy Sheriff Cindy Bull, Jennifer Lastiri, and A.B.'s

friend, N.J. 1RP at 128. A.B., who was eleven years old at the time of the alleged incident, does not fall within the scope of the child hearsay rule. RCW 9A.44. 1RP at 129. The State moved to admit the testimony under the “hue and cry/fact of disclosure” exception to the hearsay rule. 1RP at 129-32. Defense counsel objected to the fact of disclosure testimony on the basis that the statements were not made within a reasonable time after commission of the offense alleged. 1RP at 148, 149. The State argued that the offense occurred in January or February, 2010, and that A.B. disclosed the incident by March 18, 2010. 1RP at 150. The court allowed the hue and cry testimony. 1RP at 150.

Defense counsel also moved to review A.B.’s entire treatment file used by her counselor, Amy Baggett. 1RP at 157. The court had previously conducted an *in camera* review of the entire treatment file and determined that two pages in the file “touched upon the abuse,” which were provided to defense counsel. 1RP at 157. The court denied counsel’s renewed request for access to the entire file. 1RP at 157. Defense counsel also objected to Ms. Baggett’s anticipated testimony regarding A.B.’s statements to her during treatment under the medical diagnosis exception to the hearsay rule, which the court denied. 1RP at 154, 157.



The jury found Mr. Tewee guilty of child molestation in the first degree as alleged in Count 2. CP 330. He was acquitted of Count 1. CP 328. 4Report of Proceedings [RP] at 504.<sup>1</sup> The jury found Mr. Tewee used a position of trust to gain access to the victim. 4RP at 505; CP 331. The court denied the defense's request for a new trial or arrest of judgment. 4RP at 512.

The court found that Mr. Tewee's offender score was "9," with a standard range of 149 to 198 months. 4RP at 546; CP. The court found a 2003 Oregon conviction for unauthorized use of a motor vehicle was comparable to the Washington offense of taking a motor vehicle and assigned 1 point to his offender score for the conviction. 4RP at 544.

The court imposed an exceptional minimum sentence of 220 months based on the jury's finding that Mr. Tewee "used his position of trust or confidence to facilitate the commission of the current offense." 4RP at 555; CP 518.

Timely notice of appeal was filed August 31, 2011. CP 527. This appeal follows.

---

<sup>1</sup>The record of proceedings consists of five volumes:  
1RP—September 30, October 12, October 19, November 2, December 14, 2010, January 13, March 3, March 17, and March 21, 2011, hearings;  
2RP—May 17, 2011, jury trial,  
3RP—May 17, 2011, jury trial,

**2. Testimony at trial:**

Charles Tewee is the uncle of the complaining witness, A.B. 2RP at 243. Nicole Antone is A.B.'s mother, and her father is Brian Baker. 2RP at 243. A.B., who was born November 27, 1998, initially lived with her mother and then lived at her grandmother's house in Vancouver, Washington. 2RP at 183, 195, 201, 243. When her parents were together, Mr. Tewee frequently stayed in their house. 2RP at 258, 259.

A.B. and her brother M.B. subsequently went to live with their grandmother, Linda Antone, in Vancouver. 2RP at 201, 232, 239. While she lived there, A.B. would sleep in her grandmother's bed while M.B. would sleep on the living room floor. 2RP at 194, 223. Mr. Tewee would often stay at the house, sleeping on the couch. 2RP at 194.

Brian Baker stated that Mr. Tewee and A.B. had a typical uncle and niece relationship and would often play around and wrestle. 2RP at 261, 262. In March, 2010, A.B. and her brother M.B. went to live with her father and his girlfriend, Jennifer Lastiri. 2RP at 178. Ms. Lastiri has one child, N.J. 2RP at 185. After A.B. came to live with her father, Ms. Lastiri noted that A.B. was not doing well in school, having difficulty with other children

---

4RP—May 18, 2011, jury trial, July 6, 2011, and August 31, 2011, sentencing; and Voir dire—May 16, 2011; and opening statements—May 17, 2011

at school, and was defiant. 2RP at 178-79. Ms. Lastiri thought that “it would be best to have her have somebody to talk to,” and made an appointment for her to go to counseling. 2RP at 178-79, 182. Mr. Baker stated that after she went to live with him, she was defiant and had been living in an unstable environment. 2RP at 246.

A.B. testified that in 2010, when she was eleven years old, she was sleeping in bed with her grandmother, who was watching television. 2RP at 196, 223. She stated that she thought it was February, but on cross examination said it could have been February, but that she was not sure of the month. 2RP at 226. A.B. stated that she got up from bed to get a glass of water. 2RP at 197. M.B. was sleeping on the living room floor and Mr. Tewee was sleeping on the couch. 2RP at 197, 200. A.B. testified that when she went to get a glass of water, Mr. Tewee asked her to give him a hug. 2RP at 197. She stated that it was common for her to hug him. 2RP at 197. She said that he put her on top of him and touched her vagina with his hand underneath her underpants. 2RP at 198, 199-200. She “moved away from him” and got a glass of water and went to bed. 2RP at 199. She stated that the next day she went into the garage and that her uncle came out and said he was sorry and not to tell anyone and that he could get into big trouble. 2RP

at 200. She stated that she told N.J. about the incident about three weeks later and also told Jennifer Lastiri. 2RP at 202. A.B. stated that she also told a counselor about the incident. 2RP at 203. A.B. stated that she wanted to live with her father. 2RP at 231.

Following an incident at her brother's birthday party at her father's house in March, 26, 2010, in which her uncle and an aunt arrived at the party, she went to live with her father. 2RP at 215, 216. She stated that when he got to the party her uncle asked for a hug and she tried to kick him away. 2RP at 216. Her father called the police. 2RP at 217.

Despite this, she went back to live with her grandparents in June, 2010, along with her brother and Mr. Tewee, and stayed there until August, 2010. 2RP at 204, 233. In August, 2010, Child Protective Services became involved and she was placed with her father. 2RP at 218.

N.J. she testified that A.B. told her that she had been molested and told her not to tell anyone. 2RP at 174. N.J. stated that she told her mother. 2RP at 174. Jennifer Lastiri, N.J.'s mother, testified that she asked A.B. if anyone "had touched her in a way," and that A.B. said 'yes.' 2RP at 180, 181.

N.J. stated that Mr. Tewee and A.B. treated each other like brothers

and sisters, teased each other, and wrestled and tickled each other. 2RP at 176.

Detective Cindy Bull, a deputy with the Clark County Sheriff's Office, stated that on March 30, 2010, she spoke with A.B. She testified that A.B. told her about "an inappropriate contact with her uncle." 2RP at 274.

Counselor Amy Baggett met with A.B. in March, 2010. 3RP at 292. She stated that A.B. told her that "a couple" of months prior to the initial intake assessment she hugged her uncle good night and that he had penetrated her vaginal area with his finger. 2RP at 292-93. After the initial intake assessment, Ms. Baggett had A.B.'s father come back into the room, notified him of what A.B. told her, and then reported the incident to Child Protective Services. 3RP at 294.

Linda Antone testified that when A.B. was staying at her house, she did not get up at night, and did not get water at night. 3RP at 337, 360. She stated that A.B. slept in the bed next to the wall and that if she had gotten up at night to get water, she should have noticed it. 3RP at 337.

Mr. Tewee said that he often gave A.B. a hug before she went to sleep. 3RP at 406. He denied ever touching her in a sexual manner. 3RP at 407.

## D. ARGUMENT

### 1. MR. TEWEE'S RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED WHEN TESTIMONY BY DETECTIVE BULL EXCEEDED THAT ALLOWED BY THE HUE AND CRY DOCTRINE

At the beginning of trial, defense counsel objected to evidence of M.G.'s disclosure of the molestation under the hue and cry/fact of disclosure exception to the hearsay rule. 1RP at 148, 149. The court allowed the State to introduce hue and cry testimony from N.J., Jennifer Lastini, and Deputy Sheriff Cindy Bull. 1RP at 150. Deputy Bull testified that A.B. told her about "an inappropriate contact with her uncle." 2RP at 274.

The limited exception under the hue and cry doctrine bars testimony regarding the alleged perpetrator. The hue and cry doctrine is an exception to the hearsay rule and allows the State to introduce evidence in sexual assault cases that the victim made a timely complaint to someone after the assault. *State v. Murley*, 35 Wn.2d 233, 236-37, 212 P.2d 801 (1949); *State v Ackerman*, 90 Wn.App. 477, 481, 953 P.2d 816 (1998). The rule excludes details of the complaint, including the identity of the offender and the nature of the act, and only admits evidence that will establish whether or not a complaint was timely. *Murley*, 35 Wn.2d at 237. The fact of complaint evidence "is not hearsay because it is introduced for the purpose of bolstering

the victim's credibility and is not substantive evidence of the crime.” *State v. Bray*, 23 Wn.App. 117, 121, 594 P.2d 1363 (1979). Evidence of when a witness complains is admissible because one of the underlying questions in a sexual offense case is the credibility of the victim. *Murley*, 35 Wn.2d at 237; *State v. Alexander*, 64 Wn.App. 147, 152, 822 P.2d 1250 (1992).

In applying the hue and cry rule, a witness’ testimony about what the victim told them may include only the general nature of the act. *State v. Ragan*, 22 Wn.App. 591, 597, 593 P.2d 815 (1979) (allowing testimony by a witness who said the victim reported that he was raped by a man); *State v. Fleming*, 27 Wn.App. 952, 958-59, 621 P.2d 779 (1980) (allowing testimony from witness that victim reported she was raped).

Here, the testimony of Detective Bull adduced by the State exceeded the hue and cry exception. When Detective Bull testified regarding A.B.’s hue and cry, she testified that A.B. hold her “[a]bout an inappropriate contact with her uncle.” 2RP at 274. This testimony exceeded the hue and cry exception.

Moreover, Det. Bull’s testimony under the hue and cry exception was not harmless. An erroneous evidentiary ruling is reversible if there is a reasonable probability that the error materially affected the outcome of the

trial. *State v. Calegar*, 133 Wn.2d 718, 727, 947 P.2d 235 (1997). Testimony about the identity of the perpetrator under the hue and cry exception may be harmless error. *State v Ferguson*, 100 Wn.2d 131,136, 667 P.2d 68 (1983). In this case, Detective Bull's testimony reinforced to the jury the claims that Mr. Tewee molested A.B. The error was compounded by the fact that the testimony came from a deputy sheriff.

It was substantially through this testimony that the jury gained any corroboration of A.B.'s claim. There was no physical evidence, and no indirect evidence of abuse, such as any precocious knowledge of sexual activity. See *State v Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 623, 790 P.2d 610 (1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1046 (1991). This testimony undoubtedly made a significant impression on the jury.

Because the child's out-of-court claims admitted under the hue and cry rule was particularly pivotal in this case, the admission of the evidence of identity created reversible prejudice. See *Traver v. State*, 568 N.E.2d 1009, 1013-14 (Ind.1991) (admission of child statements in absence of required foundation was reversible error because the sum of the hearsay testimony was a significant part of the evidence at trial). The testimony tended to corroborate the child's allegation factually, and materially affected the



outcome, more likely than not. See *State v. Hancock*, 46 Wn. App. at 678 (test for reversible error in admitting child statements in sex case is whether "within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected").

Based on the foregoing, this Court should reverse Mr. Tewee's conviction.

2. **THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ADMITTING HEARSAY STATEMENTS FROM A.B.'S COUNSELOR THAT WAS NOT FOR PURPOSES OF MEDICAL DIAGNOSIS OR TREATMENT.**

Statements made for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment are admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule under ER 803(a)(4). Here, the trial court abused its discretion when it admitted A.B.'s out-of-court statements to counselor Amy Baggett without a foundation that the statements were necessary for medical diagnosis or treatment.

Hearsay is defined as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." ER 801(c). Subject to narrow exceptions, hearsay is presumptively inadmissible. ER 802. Hearsay is admissible at trial if it is a statement "made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment."

ER 803(a)(4). ER 803(a)(4) provides:

Statements made for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment.

To be admissible under this exception, the court must determine whether a statement was made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment. The statements must satisfy a two-prong test: (1) whether the declarant's motive in making the statement was consistent with the purposes of promoting treatment, and (2) whether the content of the statement was such as is reasonably relied on by a physician in treatment or diagnosis. *State v. Butler*, 53 Wn. App. 214, 220, 766 P.2d 505 (1989). For the statement to be admissible, the declarant's apparent motive must be consistent with receiving treatment and the statements must be information on which the medical provider reasonably relies to make a diagnosis. *State v. Fisher*, 130 Wn. App. 1, 14, 108 P.3d 1262 (2005).

This Court reviews the trial court's admission of a statement under ER 803(a)(4) for abuse of discretion. *State v. Woods*, 143 Wn.2d 561, 602, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001).

As a general rule, statements identifying the perpetrator are not

relevant to diagnosis or treatment. *State v. Redmond*, 150 Wn.2d 489, 496, 78 P.3d 1001 (2003). Statements of blame or attribution of guilt are generally inadmissible, while statements regarding causation fall under the medical hearsay exception. *State v. Perez*, 137 Wn. App. 97, 106, 151 P.3d 249 (2007).

An exception to this general rule is that statements identifying a perpetrator may be admissible when the victim is a child for two reasons. *Perez*, 137 Wn.App. at 106. First, children's statements of causation of their injuries are often inseparable from statements attributing fault. *Id.* Second, learning the identity of the perpetrator may be essential to removing the child from danger. *Id.* However, even under this exception, the two foundational requirements and the reason for the exception remain intact. The statements are only admissible if the declarant's motive was consistent with promoting treatment and the provider reasonably relied on the statements. *State v. Carol M.D.*, 89 Wn. App. 77, 85, 948 P.2d 837 (1997), rev'd and remanded for reconsideration on other grounds sub. nom. *State v. Doggett*, 136 Wn.2d 1019, 967 P.2d 548 (1998).

The first prong of this test is not met, however, when the patient did not seek medical treatment. When a child has not sought medical treatment,

the State must present affirmative evidence the child understood her statements would further diagnosis and treatment. *Carol M.D.*, 89 Wn. App. at 86.

Here, the State failed to present such evidence. A.B. did not seek medical treatment; she was taken to see Ms. Baggett by her father due to concerns that A.B. was defiant, had behavioral issues, and had been living in unstable circumstances. 2RP at 246. The State presented no evidence that Ms. Baggett, who saw A.B. during an initial intake assessment, had discussed with A.B. the importance of telling the truth or providing accurate information. In addition, there is no evidence that Ms. Baggett told A.B. that she might have medical problems that could only be resolved if she provided truthful information.

In addition, Ms. Baggett did not testify that the name of the perpetrator was necessary for counseling, nor did she testify as to what type of information she uses when counseling children. Furthermore, Ms. Baggett did not testify that the identification of the perpetrator was related to any counseling in this case. See 3RP at 289-94.

Under these facts, the State did not come close to meeting its burden under *Carol M.D.* Because there is insufficient evidence of a motivation

consistent with seeking medical diagnosis or treatment, A.B.'s statements to Ms. Baggett should not have been admitted under the medical hearsay exception. Nonetheless, over objection from defense counsel, the counselor testified that A.B. told her that she was digitally penetrated by her uncle. 3RP at 292-93.

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