A. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

I. TEWEE FAILED TO OBJECT TO DETECTIVE BULL'S

TESTIMONY ON THE GROUND THAT IT EXCEEDED THE

SCOPE OF THE HUE AND CRY DOCTRINE, AND ANY
ERROR WAS HARMLESS

11. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING THE

TESTIMONY OF A.B.'S CONSELOR

111. THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE JURY'S

FINDING THAT TEWEE ABUSED A POSITION OF TRUST
TO FACILITATE THE COMMISSION OF THE CRIME

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INCLUDED TEWEE'S
OREGON CONVICTION FOR UNAUTHORIZED USE OF A
MOTOR VEHICLE IN HIS OFFENDER SCORE

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

C. ARGUMENT

L TEWEE FAILED TO OBJECT TO DETECTIVE BULL'S
TESTIMONY ON THE GROUND THAT IT EXCEEDED THE
SCOPE OF THE HUE AND CRY DOCTRINE AND ANY
ERROR WAS HARMLESS

Prior to trial, defense counsel objected to any witness testifying

about A.B.'s disclosure of the alleged rape because he argued the

disclosure was untimely. RP 148 -50. When the trial court ruled that the

disclosure was timely and, therefore, admissible, defense counsel argued

that the State should only be permitted to introduce the evidence in
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rebuttal while acknowledging in the same breath that the case law bore no

such requirement. RP 151-52. Last, the trial court agreed that the fact of

disclosure was not substantive evidence and indicated it would give such

an instruction if requested, although not on the timeline requested by

defense counsel. RP 152-53.

During Detective Bull's testimony, the following exchange took

place:

Prosecutor: And when did you talk to [A.B.]?

Bull: I talked to [A.B.] on March 30 2010, about
855 hours in the morning.

Prosecutor: Okay. And without going into the details of
what she told you, what was the basic
general thing that she was talking to you
about?

Bull: About an inappropriate contact with her
uncle.

Defense counsel did not object to this testimony. RP 274.

RAP 2.5 (a) states the general rule for appellate disposition of

issues not raised in the trial court: appellate courts will not entertain

them." State v. Nunez, 160 Wn.App. 150, 157, 248 P.3d 103 (201 State

v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). See also State v.

Robinson, 171 Wn.2d 292, 
3 )

04, 253 P.3d 292 (201 State v. McFarland,

127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The rule requiring issue

preservation at trial encourages the efficient use ofjudicial resources and

ensures that the trial court has the opportunity to correct any errors,
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thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals. Robinson at 305, McFarland at

333; Scott, at 685. "[P]ermitting appeal of all unraised constitutional

issues undermines the trial process and results in unnecessary appeals,

undesirable retrials, and wasteful use of resources." Robinson, supra, at

305.

As explained in McFarland, supra, RAP 2.5 (a) (3) is "not

intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials

whenever they can identify some constitutional issue not raised before the

trial court." McFarland at 333. In order to obtain review under RAP 2.5,

the error must be "'manifest,' —i.e. it must be 'truly of constitutional

magnitude."' Id.; Scott, supra, at 688. To be deemed manifest

constitutional error, a defendant must identify the error and show how, in

the context of the trial, the alleged error actually affected the defendant's

rights. McFarland at 333. "It is not enough that the Defendant allege

prejudice—actual prejudice must appear in the record." Id. at 334.

Here, Tewee does not even acknowledge that he bears the burden

of persuading this Court to review this claimed error for the first time on

appeal. Tewee's pre-trial objection to any witness testifying about the fact

of complaint on the basis that the disclosure was not timely made does not

excuse his failure to object, during Detective Bull's testimony, that her

testimony exceeded the permissible scope of the hue and cry doctrine by



identifying the perpetrator. Had a timely objection been made, the trial

court could have ruled on the objection and instructed the jury to disregard

the testimony. Defense counsel's failure to object strongly suggests that

he did not view the remark as prejudicial to Tewee's defense. Defense

counsel's failure to object to the remark at the time it was made "'strongly

suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear

critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial. "' State v.

McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 53, n.2, 134 P.3d 221 (2005) quoting State v.

Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990), cent. denied, 498 U.S.

1046, 111 S.Ct. 752 (1991).

Even if this Court elects to review this claimed error for the first

time on appeal, any error in Detective Bull's testimony was harmless. The

hue and cry" doctrine, also termed the "fact of complaint" doctrine,

provides:

In rape cases, the "hue and cry" of the injured person, i.e.,
the complaint that she has bee raped, made within a
reasonable time after the commission of the crime is
admissible. The testimony is introduced for the sole
purpose of rebutting an inference that the complaining
witness was silent following the attack.

State v. Fleming, 27 Wn.App. 952, 958, 621 P.2d 779 (1980) (internal

citation omitted); State v. Murley, 35 Wn.2d 233, 212 P.2d 801 (1950).

However, the particular details of the complaint, including the identity of
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the perpetrator, are not covered by this doctrine. Fleming at 958, State v.

Thomas, 52 Wn.2d 255, 257, 324 P.2d 821 (1958).

While it is clear that Detective Bull's testimony that the

inappropriate contact A.B. complained of was perpetrated by her "uncle"

exceeded the scope of the hue and cry doctrine, this testimony was

harmless. An evidentiary error is grounds for reversal only if it results in

prejudice. Slate v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389. 403. 945 P.2d 1120 (1997),

An evidentiary error is not prejudicial unless. within reasonable

probabilities. the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected

had the error not occurred." Slate v, Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 591. 599, 637 P.2d

961 (1981); see Bourgeois. 133 Wn.2d at 403. As in State v. Fleming,

supra, where such testimony was also deemed harmless, identity was not

at issue in this case. "We need not reach the issue as to the alleged error in

the admission of that portion of the victim's statement which (arguably)

identifies the defendant. There was no prejudice to defendant because his

identity was not contested." Fleming at 958. Likewise here, Tewee's

defense was not that he was the not the perpetrator of the offense, but that

the offense never occurred. The jury heard A.B.'s testimony identifying

Tewee as the perpetrator of the sexual abuse. The only issue to be decided

by the jury was whether the offense occurred, not by whom. Mr. Tewee
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should not be awarded a new trial for this minor breach of the hue and cry

doctrine.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING THE
TESTIMONY OF A.B.'S COUNSELOR.

The trial court's admission ofout-of-court statements is an

evidentiary decision that is covered by the Rules of Evidence, not

constitutional law. See State v. Williams, 30 Wn.App. 558, 565-66, 636

P.2d 498 (1981), rev'd on other grounds, 98 Wn.2d 428, 656 P.2d 477

1982). A trial court's decision to admit evidence is reviewed for an abuse

of discretion. State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 8 1 Om 975 P.2d 967 (1999).

A court abuses its discretion when its evidentiary ruling is "manifestly

unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable

reasons." State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775

1971).

ER 801(c) provides: "[h]earsay' is a statement, other than one

made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in

evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." ER 803 provides

h]earsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules, by other

court rules, or by statute."

I



Under ER 803(a)(4) hearsay is admissible when the declarant

made the statement for the purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment.

ER 803(a)(4) provides

s]tatements [ are] made for purposes of medical diagnosis
or treatment and describing medical history, or past or
present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or
general character of the cause or external source thereof
insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment.

ER 803(a)(4).

A statement is "reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment"

when (1) the declarant's motive in making the statement is to promote

treatment and (2) the medical professional reasonably relies on the

statement for the purposes of treatment. State v. Butler, 53 Wn.App. 214,

220, 766 P.2d 505 (1989). Statements to therapists can be admitted

pursuant to ER 803 (a)(4). State v. Ackerman, 90 Wn.App. 477, 482, 953

P.2d 816 (1998).

Under ER 803(a)(4), the definition of medical "treatment' is not

limited "to a medical lexicon involving only physical injuries." State v.

Woods, 143 Wn.2d 561, 602, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001). Rather, psychological

treatment also falls within the definition of the medical treatment

exception. Woods, 143 Wn.2d at 602. For example, in Woods, the Court

found, when a witness observed her friend being beaten, the emergency

room doctor needed to know "what happened" from the perspective of the

10



witness because she was likely to experience post traumatic distress and

the doctor needed to assess her need for counseling. Id.

Because a medical professional or therapist must be attentive to

treating both the physical and the emotional injuries that result from child

abuse, a child's statements as to the identity of a closely related abuser are

also of the type relied upon in determining proper treatment." In re

Personal Restraint ofGrasso, 151 Wn.2d 1, 20 -21, 84 P.3d 859 (2004).

Here, relying exclusively on Division III of the Court of Appeals'

opinion in State v. Carol M.D., 89 Wn.App. 77, 86, 948 P.2d 837 (1997),

Tewee argues that the proper foundation for Amy Baggett's testimony was

not laid where she did not specifically testify that A.B. understood that her

statements to Baggett would further diagnosis and treatment. In Carol

M.D. Division III held that "in the case of a child who has not sought

medical treatment, but makes statements to a counselor procured for him

or her by a state social agency, the State's burden under ER 803 is more

onerous. The record must affirmatively demonstrate the child made the

statements understanding that they would further the diagnosis and

possible treatment of the child's condition." Carol MD. at 86. The very

language of the above quotation suggests that Tewee misconstrues Carol

M.D. as broader than it actually is. In this case, A.B. was taken to a

counselor by her father, not a "state social agency." Carol M.D. was one

11



of many cases arising from the so- called Wenatchee sex ring trials, a

group of cases that revealed rampant governmental corruption in the law

enforcement and social service communities of Wenatchee. It was

significant, in Carol MD., that the alleged victim had arrived at the

doctor's doorstep, so to speak, at the behest of the government (as opposed

to a concerned parent). Further, there is no evidence in this case that A.B.

was not in agreement with her father that she should see a counselor. In

other words, she was not there reluctantly or as a result of governmental

machination.

Division 11 of the Court of Appeals has departed from the holding

in Carol M.D. on this point:

Kilgore relies upon State v. Carol M.D. to argue that the
State was required to affirmatively establish that C.M. had
a treatment motive for making her statements. See State v.
Carol M.D., 89 Wn.App. 77, 948 P.2d 837 (1997), revd̀
and remanded for reconsideration on other grounds sub
nom. State v. Doggett. 136 Wn.2d 1019, 967 P.2d 548
1998). Carol M.D. is distinguishable because it involved a
therapist and the child explicitly denied knowing what a
therapist did. When the party is offering hearsay testimony
through the medical diagnosis exception, when the
declarant has stated he or she does not know what the
medical personnel to whom the statement was made does,
and when the opposing party makes a proper foundation
objection after the declarant denies having such knowledge,
the party offering the statement must affirmatively establish
the declarant had a treatment motive. Otherwise, as long as
the declarant is not a very young child, courts may infer the
declarant had such a motive.

State v. Kilgore, 107 Wn.App. 160, 183, 26 P.3d 308 (2001). Baggett's

testimony demonstrates that A.B. had a treatment motive when she
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disclosed the sexual abuse she suffered from Tewee. A.B. knew she was

speaking with a counselor. When she began her assessment with Baggett

she asked to speak to Baggett outside her father's presence. RP 292.

Once alone with Baggett, A.B. was apprehensive about discussing the

matter but disclosed that her uncle had put his finger in her vagina and that

it caused her pain. RP 293. Baggett testified "it seemed like it felt like

she felt a need to talk to me about it." RP 293. The record amply supports

the trial court's decision to admit this evidence.

Even if admission of this evidence was error, the error was

harmless. The jury heard about the molestation from A.B. and heard

about her timely disclosure of the molestation to her friend Nicole as well

as her stepmother. The only way in which the disclosure to Baggett

differed was that Baggett testified that A.B. reported a digital rape as

opposed to molestation. Because the jury acquitted Tewee of rape of a

child and convicted him of child molestation, Baggett's testimony about

the digital rape had no impact on the jury's decision. If it was error to

admit this testimony, such error was harmless.

III. THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE JURY'S
FINDING THAT TEWEE ABUSED A POSITION OF TRUST
TO FACILITATE THE COMMISSION OF THE CRIME

The Sentencing Reform Act allows the jury to find an aggravating

factor where "The defendant used his or her position of trust, confidence,
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or fiduciary responsibility to facilitate the commission of the current

offense." See RCW 9.94A.535 (3) (n). The Supreme Court has held that

t]he two factors to be considered in determining whether [a] defendant

abused a sufficient position of trust to merit an exceptional sentence are

the duration and the degree of the relationship." State v. Grewe, 117

Wn.2d 211, 218, 813 P.2d 1238 (1991). In State v. Fisher, 108 Wn.2d

419, 427, 739 P.2d 683 (1987), the Supreme Court stated:

A relationship extending over a longer period of time, or
one within the same household, would indicate a more
significant trust relationship, that the offender's abuse
of that relationship would te a more substantial reason for
imposing an exceptional sentence.

The Court of Appeals enumerated the following considerations:

Whether the defendant is in a position of trust depends on
the length of the relationship with the victim, the trust
relationship between the

offense
care giver and the

perpetrator of a sexual against a child, the
vulnerability of the victim to trust because of age, and the
degree of the defendant's culpability.

State v. Bedker, 74 Wn.App. 87, 95, 871 P.2d 673 (1994). In Bedker, the

Court held that where the defendant raped his half-brother, with whom he

lived in the same house, the trial court properly found that the defendant

abused a position of trust to facilitate the crime:

Here, there was a family relationship between the victim
and the redator. The crimes occurred at the house of M
and BeZr's father. Bedker is M's half-brother, someone
the victim should have been able to trust. The trial court did
not err in finding an abuse of trust.

Bedker at 95-96.
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Moreover, in State v, P.B.T, 67 Wn.App. 292, 304, 834 P.2d 1051

1992), cited heavily by Tewee, the Court sustained the finding that the

defendant, a scout leader, had abused a position of trust to facilitate the

crime of second degree molestation against a camper in his care. The

Court said: "That there is no direct evidence that the position of trust was

relied upon to perpetrate the crime is unimportant, as long as there is

evidence which logically could lead to the conclusion that the crime was

facilitated by the position of trust." (Emphasis added.)

In this case, the evidence of abuse of trust is far more compelling

than that in Bedker and P.B.T Here, Tewee was the adult son ofA.B.'s

primary caregiver; he was A.B.'s uncle and lived in the same home. He

had built a relationship of trust in which A.B. felt comfortable hugging

him and having him tickle her and wrestle with her. These are classic

grooming behaviors. His own description of the relationship inescapably

points to the conclusion that he abused a position of trust to facilitate the

molestation of A.B. This Court should affirm the jury's finding.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INCLUDED TEWEE'S
OREGON CONVICTION FOR UNAUTHORIZED USE OF A
MOTOR VEHICLE IN HIS OFFENDER SCORE.

Tewee claims that the trial court erred in including his 2002

Oregon conviction for unauthorized use of a motor vehicle (under case

number 02FE-0232) in his offender score. Tewee's claim fails.
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Tewee claims, as he did below, that the trial court is prohibited

from including a foreign conviction in his offender score unless the

elements of the foreign crime match identically to the elements of a

Washington felony. Tewee misstates the law. The first step in determing

whether a foreign conviction is comparable to a Washington felony is to

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